
260 

19 CFR Ch. I (4–1–06 Edition) § 162.73a 

(ii) If there is no loss of duties, taxes 
and fees 10 percent of the dutiable 
value of the merchandise; and 

(2) For grossly negligent and neg-
ligent violations, the interest on any 
loss of duties, taxes and fees. The inter-
est shall be computed from the date of 
liquidation at the prevailing rate of in-
terest applied under section 6621, Inter-
nal Revenue Code of 1954, as amended 
(26 U.S.C. 6621). 

(c) Exception; clerical error or mistake 
of fact. There is no violation and, con-
sequently, no penalty incurred, if the 
falsity or omission is due solely to cler-
ical error or mistake of fact, unless the 
error or mistake is part of the pattern 
of negligent conduct. 

[T.D. 79–160, 44 FR 31958, June 4, 1979, as 
mended by T.D. 99–64, 64 FR 43267, Aug. 10, 
1999] 

§ 162.73a Penalties under section 593A, 
Tariff Act of 1930, as amended. 

(a) Maximum penalty without prior dis-
closure for a drawback compliance pro-
gram nonparticipant. If the person con-
cerned has not made a prior disclosure 
as provided in § 162.74 and has not been 
certified as a participant in the draw-
back compliance program under part 
191 of this chapter, the monetary pen-
alty under section 593A, Tariff Act of 
1930, as amended (19 U.S.C. 1593a), can-
not exceed: 

(1) For fraudulent violations, three 
times the loss of revenue; and 

(2) For negligent violations, 
(i) 20 percent of the loss of revenue 

for the first violation, 
(ii) 50 percent of the loss of revenue 

for the first repetitive violation, or 
(iii) One times the loss of revenue for 

the second and each subsequent repet-
itive violation. 

(b) Maximum penalty without prior dis-
closure for a drawback compliance pro-
gram participant——(1) General. If the 
person concerned has not made a prior 
disclosure as provided in § 162.74 and 
has been certified as a participant in, 
and is generally in compliance with the 
procedures and requirements of, the 
drawback compliance program pro-
vided for in part 191 of this chapter, the 
monetary penalty or other sanction 
under section 593A, Tariff Act of 1930, 
as amended (19 U.S.C. 1593a), cannot ex-
ceed: 

(i) For fraudulent violations, three 
times the loss of revenue; and 

(ii) For negligent violations, 
(A) Issuance of a written notice of a 

violation (warning letter) for the first 
violation and for any other violation 
that is not repetitive or that is repet-
itive but does not occur within three 
years from the date of the violation of 
which it is repetitive, 

(B) 20 percent of the loss of revenue 
for the first repetitive violation that 
occurs within three years from the 
date of the violation of which it is re-
petitive, 

(C) 50 percent of the loss of revenue 
for the second repetitive violation that 
occurs within three years from the 
date of the first of two violations of 
which it is repetitive, or 

(D) One times the loss of revenue for 
the third and each subsequent repet-
itive violation that occurs within three 
years from the date of the first of three 
or more violations of which it is repet-
itive. 

(2) Notice of violation and required re-
sponse to notice(i) The notice issued by 
Customs under paragraph (b)(1)(ii)(A) 
of this section will: 

(A) State that the person concerned 
has violated section 593A; 

(B) Explain the nature of the viola-
tion; and 

(C) Warn the person concerned that 
future violations of section 593A may 
result in the imposition of monetary 
penalties. The notice will also warn the 
person concerned that repetitive viola-
tions may result in removal of certifi-
cation under the drawback compliance 
program provided for in part 191 of this 
chapter until the person takes correc-
tive action that is satisfactory to Cus-
toms. 

(ii) Within 30 days from the date of 
mailing of the notice issued under 
paragraph (b)(1)(ii)(A) of this section: 

(A) The person concerned must notify 
Customs in writing of the steps that 
have been taken to prevent a recur-
rence of the violation; or 

(B) If the person concerned believes 
that no violation took place, he may 
advise Customs in writing of the basis 
for that position. If Customs agrees on 
further review that no violation in fact 
took place, Customs will in writing ad-
vise the person concerned and rescind 
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the notice of violation. If on further re-
view Customs remains of the opinion 
that the violation took place as alleged 
in the notice of violation, Customs will 
issue a written affirmation of the no-
tice of violation advising the person 
concerned that the notice requirement 
of paragraph (b)(2)(ii)(A) of this section 
remains applicable and must be com-
plied with either within the remainder 
of the prescribed 30-day period or with-
in 15 days after issuance of the written 
affirmation, whichever period is 
longer. 

(c) Maximum penalty with prior disclo-
sure. If the person concerned has made 
a prior disclosure as provided in 
§ 162.74, whether or not such person has 
been certified as a participant in the 
drawback compliance program under 
part 191 of this chapter, the monetary 
penalty under section 593A, Tariff Act 
of 1930, as amended (19 U.S.C. 1593a), 
cannot exceed: 

(1) For fraudulent violations, one 
times the loss of revenue; and 

(2) For negligent violations, an 
amount equal to the interest accruing 
on the actual loss of revenue during 
the period from the date of overpay-
ment of the claim to the date on which 
the person concerned tenders the 
amount of the overpayment based on 
the prevailing rate of interest under 26 
U.S.C. 6621. 

[T.D. 00–5, 65 FR 3808, Jan. 25, 2000] 

§ 162.74 Prior disclosure. 
(a) In general—(1) A prior disclosure 

is made if the person concerned dis-
closes the circumstances of a violation 
(as defined in paragraph (b) of this sec-
tion) of 19 U.S.C. 1592 or 19 U.S.C. 1593a, 
either orally or in writing to a Cus-
toms officer before, or without knowl-
edge of, the commencement of a formal 
investigation of that violation, and 
makes a tender of any actual loss of 
duties, taxes and fees or actual loss of 
revenue in accordance with paragraph 
(c) of this section. A Customs officer 
who receives such a tender in connec-
tion with a prior disclosure shall en-
sure that the tender is deposited with 
the concerned local Customs entry offi-
cer. 

(2) A person shall be accorded the full 
benefits of prior disclosure treatment 
if that person provides information 

orally or in writing to Customs with 
respect to a violation of 19 U.S.C. 1592 
or 19 U.S.C. 1593a if the concerned 
Fines, Penalties, and Forfeitures Offi-
cer is satisfied the information was 
provided before, or without knowledge 
of, the commencement of a formal in-
vestigation, and the information pro-
vided includes substantially the infor-
mation specified in paragraph (b) of 
this section. In the case of an oral dis-
closure, the disclosing party shall con-
firm the oral disclosure by providing a 
written record of the information con-
veyed to Customs in the oral disclosure 
to the concerned Fines, Penalties, and 
Forfeitures Officer within 10 days of 
the date of the oral disclosure. The 
concerned Fines, Penalties and For-
feiture Officer may, upon request of the 
disclosing party which establishes a 
showing of good cause, waive the oral 
disclosure written confirmation re-
quirement. Failure to provide the writ-
ten confirmation of the oral disclosure 
or obtain a waiver of the requirement 
may result in denial of the oral prior 
disclosure. 

(b) Disclosure of the circumstances of a 
violation. The term ‘‘discloses the cir-
cumstances of a violation’’ means the 
act of providing to Customs a state-
ment orally or in writing that: 

(1) Identifies the class or kind of mer-
chandise involved in the violation; 

(2) Identifies the importation or 
drawback claim included in the disclo-
sure by entry number, drawback claim 
number, or by indicating each con-
cerned Customs port of entry and the 
approximate dates of entry or dates of 
drawback claims; 

(3) Specifies the material false state-
ments, omissions or acts including an 
explanation as to how and when they 
occurred; and 

(4) Sets forth, to the best of the dis-
closing party’s knowledge, the true and 
accurate information or data that 
should have been provided in the entry 
or drawback claim documents, and 
states that the disclosing party will 
provide any information or data un-
known at the time of disclosure within 
30 days of the initial disclosure date. 
Extensions of the 30-day period may be 
requested by the disclosing party from 
the concerned Fines, Penalties, and 
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